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Introduction

In Shelby County v. Holder, the U.S. Supreme Court held that Section 4(b), the part of the Voting Rights Act (VRA)
that determined which states and localities would be subject to federal review of all of their proposed voting changes, was unconstitutional. While Chief Justice John Roberts, writing for the 5-4 majority, stated that “no one doubts”
that voting discrimination still exists, he held that the statute needed to be updated to ensure that the enforcement
provisions were responding to “current needs.”1
The impact of the decision went well beyond invalidating the preclearance coverage formula in Section 4(b). It also
essentially eliminated the requirements under Section 5 of the VRA, including the requirement that certain states,
counties and other jurisdictions provide notice to their communities regarding new voting changes, and the ability
for potentially discriminatory voting changes to be put “on hold” pending a federal determination of whether the
proposed change is discriminatory. It also functionally invalidated the federal observer program, which has been an
important tool to protect all voters from racial intimidation at the polls.
The decision left the work of modernizing the VRA to Congress to ensure that the law is sufficient to guard against
the persistent threat of racial discrimination in voting.
The Voting Rights Amendment Act (VRAA) (H.R. 3899/S. 1945), introduced with bipartisan support in January
2014, is a direct response to the Court’s opinion in Shelby. It is a flexible, modern, nationwide solution to the problem of discrimination in voting. The legislation includes a new coverage formula for federal preclearance that is both
narrow and nationwide, provides new tools to get ahead of voting discrimination before it occurs, and ensures that
proposed election changes are transparent.
While the VRA has been enormously successful in eliminating some of the most egregious forms of discrimination,
the reality is that discrimination in voting remains real and immediate. This report is a comprehensive description
of each documented violation of the anti-discrimination provisions of the VRA since 2000: 148 separate instances.
Notably, the report provides details on 10 additional voting law changes that have been put in place since the Shelby
decision. The violations outlined in this report come both from states previously covered by Section 4(b) as well as
states that did not fall under the previous coverage formula.2
In assessing the impact of racial discrimination in voting in the last 15 years, it is vital to recognize that since each
voting rights violation often impacts thousands, tens of thousands, and sometimes hundreds of thousands of voters, the magnitude of the impact of racial discrimination in voting is much more profound than the total number of
documented violations may suggest.
1. Shelby Co. v. Holder, 133 S.Ct. 2612, 2619, 2631 (2013)
2. Even with the deterrent effect of Section 5 in place in many of these states for almost 50 years, there are still a disproportionate number of
successful Section 2 lawsuits in states previously covered by Section 5 (in addition to the examples of Section 5 objections in those states). This
underscores the fact that racial discrimination is more acute and entrenched in some places than in others.
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Key Findings

Racial discrimination in voting remains a significant problem in our democracy. Nearly 50 years after the enactment of the VRA, racial discrimination in voting remains a persistent problem in many places around the country.
The 148 separate instances of voting violations since 2000 documented in this report illustrate that while we as a
nation have made progress in our efforts to stop racial discrimination in voting, our work is not done. And given that
this set of examples is drawn only from documented and reported cases of discrimination, the actual extent of racial
discrimination in voting is likely much more extensive than this list may suggest.
The problem of racial discrimination in voting is not limited to one region of the country. The examples outlined
in this report document instances of voting discrimination from 30 states, representing every region of the country. Racial discrimination in voting remains concentrated in states that were previously covered under the VRA’s
preclearance requirement, but is also present in other states and jurisdictions that have not had the same history of
discrimination.
Voting discrimination occurs most often in local elections. As is evident throughout this document, the vast majority of instances of racial discrimination since 2000 have occurred at the local level. They often concern the election
of city, county or other local elected officials, where many of the contests are nonpartisan.
Discrimination in voting manifests itself in many ways, and new methods continue to emerge. Voting discrimination occurs today in both overt and subtle forms. The examples in this document range from an instance in Kilmichael, Mississippi, when the town cancelled a general election for the office of mayor and board of alderman after
Black people had become a majority of the registered voters, to the closure of polling places in heavily minority
areas.
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Overview of Voting Rights Violations

This document lists 148 separate instances of racial discrimination in voting since 2000. Each case, by its nature,
impacts hundreds, thousands, or tens of thousands of voters.
The examples are drawn from multiple public sources, including the U.S. Department of Justice (DOJ) website and
published judicial opinions. Each example detailed in this document is a violation of one of the provisions of the
VRA and falls into one of the following categories:
• Section 2 Cases: Section 2 prohibits voting practices that have the purpose or result of discriminating against
members of a racial or language minority group, including, for example, redistricting plans and at-large election
systems, poll worker hiring, and voter registration procedures. Either private citizens or DOJ may sue election
authorities for violating this provision.
• Section 5 Cases and Objections: Section 5 was enacted to freeze proposed changes in election practices or
procedures in covered jurisdictions until the new procedures have been determined – either after administrative
review by the attorney general, or after a lawsuit before the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia – to
have neither a discriminatory purpose nor effect. The objections listed below are those submissions in which the
jurisdiction was unable to prove that the proposed voting change did not have the purpose or effect of denying or
abridging the right to vote on account of race, color, or membership in a language minority group. Voting changes
that are subject to preclearance include such practices as polling place or precinct changes, changes in candidate
qualifications, changes in methods of election, and changes in voting equipment. Moreover, if a covered jurisdiction fails to submit a voting change, a Section 5 “enforcement action” may be brought to stop the implementation
of the change until it is precleared.
• Language Minority Provisions: Under Sections 4(f)(4) and 203, certain jurisdictions must provide language assistance to Hispanic, Asian American and American Indian/Alaska Native voters.
• Section 11(b) Anti-intimidation Provision: Section 11(b) states that, “No person, whether acting under the color
of law or otherwise, shall intimidate, threaten, or coerce, or attempt to intimidate, threaten, or coerce any person
for voting or attempting to vote, or intimidate, threaten, or coerce, or attempt to intimidate, threaten, or coerce any
person for urging or aiding any person to vote or attempt to vote, or intimidate, threaten, or coerce any person.”
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Section 5 Objections and Other Voting Rights Act Violations
by State: 2000-June 2013
Between 2000 and June 2013, there were 148 Section 5
objections or other Voting Rights Act violations recorded
across 29 states. Texas had the most with 30.
States with 1 - 5 violations
States with 6 - 10 violations
States with 11 - 15 violations
States with 16+ violations

Alabama
Section 5 Objections:
• United States v. City of Calera, Ala (2008) – Despite the fact that it was under Section 5 preclearance review obligations, for 13 years, the city of Calera failed to submit their adopted annexations for Section 5 review. Under the
existing arrangement, the district had elected an African-American candidate for 20 years prior, but annexations
and redistricting plans submitted in 2008 would have eliminated the city’s sole majority African-American district.
• Riley v. Kennedy (2008) – Mobile County, Alabama, proposed to change its method of selection for filling vacancies on the Mobile County Commission from special election to gubernatorial appointment. The change would
have transferred electoral power to a state official elected by a statewide constituency whose racial make-up and
electoral choices regularly differ from those of the voters of the district. DOJ analysis found that the transfer of
electoral power would diminish the opportunity of minority voters to elect a representative of their choice to the
Mobile County Commission. Because the Supreme Court found, on narrow technical grounds, that this law was
not a change affecting voting within the meaning of Section 5, it did not address whether the law had a discriminatory effect.
• Singer v. City of Alabaster (2001) – The city proposed annexations, which the DOJ found would have seriously
threatened, if not eliminated, the only opportunity minority voters had to elect candidates of their choice to city office. Moreover, the analysis indicated that there were options available to and considered by the city which would
have avoided the retrogressive effects of the proposed Ward 1 annexations.
Other Voting Rights Act Violations
• City of Evergreen (2014) – In January 2014, a federal court “bailed-in” the city of Evergreen under Section 3(c)
for intentionally discriminating against Black voters. The court found that the city council had failed to submit for
preclearance the 2001 and 2012 municipal redistricting plans, and a 2012 change in the method of determining
voter eligibility. The court ruled in favor of the plaintiffs’ Section 2 and 14th and 15th Amendment claims based
on the evidence presented of the city’s long history of discrimination in voting. The city council must submit all
redistricting plans and changes in voter eligibility for preclearance until December 2020.

Alaska
• State of Alaska (2008) – In 2008, the state submitted for Section 5 preclearance a plan to eliminate polling places
in several Native villages:
○○
To realign the voting precincts in a way that would join Tatitlek, a community in which about 85 percent
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of the residents are Alaska Native, to the predominately White community Cordova, located over 33 miles
away and not connected by road;
○○
To consolidate Pedro Bay, where a majority of residents are Alaska Native, with Iliamna and Newhalen,
which are located approximately 28 miles away, are not connected by road, and were the subject of a
critical initiative on the August 2008 ballot; and
○○
To consolidate Levelock, in which about 95 percent of residents are Alaska Native, with Kokhanok, which
is approximately 77 miles apart and not connected by road.
DOJ responded with a More Information Request (MIR) regarding reasons for the voting changes, distances
between the polling places, and their accessibility to Alaska Native voters, as well as steps the state was taking to
implement an unsubmitted voting change designating “specified voting precincts” as “permanent absentee by-mail
precincts.” Rather than responding and submitting the additional voting changes for Section 5 review, Alaska withdrew the submission two weeks later.2`
• Nick et al. v. Bethel et al. (2008). In this case, a federal court issued a preliminary injunction and specific relief
finding that the Bethel Census Area of Alaska had not complied with its obligations under Section 203 of the VRA
since 1975.

Arizona
Section 5 Objections:
• Coconino County Special District (2003) – The district proposed replacing their single-member district plan
with an alternative election system. After review and analysis, DOJ concluded that such a change would have
reduced the ability of Native American voters to elect their candidates of choice to the local boards.
• State of Arizona (2002) – In 2002, DOJ objected to the 2001 legislative redistricting plan submitted by the state,
concluding that the plan discriminated against Latino voters by reducing the number of districts where Latino voters had an opportunity to elect candidates of choice from eight to five.
Other Voting Rights Act Violations:
• United States v. Cochise County, AZ (2006) – On June 16, 2006, DOJ filed a complaint against Cochise County,
AZ for violations of Section 203 and Section 302 of the Help America Vote Act (HAVA) of 2002. The complaint
alleged that Cochise County violated Section 203 requirements by failing to provide an adequate number of bilingual poll workers trained to assist Spanish-speaking voters on Election Day and by failing to publicize effectively
election information in Spanish. On October 12, 2006, the court entered a consent decree which requires the
county to translate all its election related materials into Spanish and hire an adequate number of poll workers and
which authorizes the assignment of federal observers to monitor elections in the county.

California
Section 5 Objections:
• Chualar School District (2002) – The school district proposed a change in the method of electing school trustees
from districts to an at-large method. The evidence demonstrated that the change would have had a retrogressive
effect on the ability of Latino voters to elect candidates of choice.
Other Voting Rights Act Violations:
• United States v. Alameda County, CA (2011) – In June 2011, DOJ filed a complaint alleging that Alameda County
violated Section 203 by having failed to provide effective access to the electoral process for Spanish- and Chinesespeaking citizens who needed language assistance and translated materials and information to cast an informed
ballot. Alameda County has been continuously covered under Section 203 for Spanish and Chinese languages
since 1992. On October 19, 2011, the District Court for the District of Columbia entered a consent decree requir-
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ing the county to provide bilingual language assistance at the polls and election-related materials and information
in Spanish and Chinese and newly covered languages as determined by the Census Bureau. The parties agreed that
federal observers may monitor Election Day activities in polling places in Alameda County.
• United States v. Riverside County, CA (2010) – On February 12, 2010, DOJ filed a complaint, along with a
memorandum of agreement, against Riverside County, California. The complaint alleged that the county violated
the language minority requirements of Section 203 by failing to implement an effective bilingual election program
for Spanish-speaking voters. On April 30, 2010, the three-judge panel of the court entered an order granting the
parties’ joint motion for extension of time for the defendants to answer the United States’ complaint and to authorize federal observers under Section 3(a) to monitor Riverside County elections through March 31, 2013.
• United States v. City of Walnut, CA (2007) – On April 12, 2007, DOJ filed a complaint against the city of Walnut,
CA under Section 203 alleging that the city failed to translate election materials and provide assistance for limitedEnglish proficient Chinese and Korean voters. On November 9, 2007, the court entered a consent decree to ensure
that the city translate election materials and provide assistance for limited-English proficient Chinese and Korean
voters and ordering the appointment of federal observers until December 31, 2010.
• United States v. City of Azusa, CA (2005) – On July 14, 2005, DOJ filed a complaint and proposed consent decree
alleging that the city of Azusa violated Section 203. The complaint claimed that the city failed to translate much
of its election-related information into Spanish, as required by the VRA. The consent decree, approved on August
26 by a three-judge panel of the court, required the city to establish an effective Spanish-language program and
authorized the use of federal observers to monitor the city’s elections.
• United States v. City of Paramount, CA (2005) – On July 14, 2005, DOJ filed a complaint and proposed consent
decree alleging that the city of Paramount violated Section 203. The complaint claimed that the city failed to
translate much of its election-related information into Spanish, as required by the VRA. The consent decree, which
was approved on August 23, required the city to establish an effective Spanish-language program and authorizes
the use of federal observers to monitor the city’s elections.
• United States v. City of Rosemead, CA (2005) – On July 14, 2005, DOJ filed a complaint and proposed consent
decree alleging that the city of Rosemead violated Section 203. The complaint claimed that the city failed to
translate most of its election-related information into Spanish, Chinese, and Vietnamese or to provide bilingual assistance at polling sites in those languages, as required by the VRA. The consent decree was approved by a threejudge panel of the court, and required the city to establish effective Spanish-, Chinese-, and Vietnamese-language
election programs, and authorized the use of federal observers to monitor the city’s elections.
• United States v. Ventura County, CA (2004) – DOJ claimed that the county violated Section 203. The complaint
alleged that the county did not have sufficient bilingual poll officials and did not translate all election-related information into Spanish, as required by the VRA. On September 2, 2004, the court entered a consent decree, which
required the county to establish an effective Spanish-language election program.
• United States v. San Diego County, CA (2004) – DOJ’s complaint alleged that the county’s practices and procedures concerning Spanish heritage and Filipino voters violated Section 203. The United States and the county
agreed to a memorandum of agreement and a stipulated order, both of which were filed on June 23, 2004. The
agreement provided for Spanish and Tagalog (Filipino) language election programs, and also a complete Vietnamese-language program to serve a minority language group that narrowly missed the threshold for Section 203
coverage. The court signed the order, including an interlocutory order providing for the appointment of federal
examiners and observers pursuant to Section 3 on July 7, 2004.
• United States v. San Benito County, CA (2004) – In this action, DOJ alleged that the county violated both Section
203 by failing to have an effective Spanish language election program and Section 302 of HAVA by failing to post
the information required by that section in polling places and by failing to provide the requisite written information regarding the process of casting a provisional ballot. The court entered a consent decree, requiring the county
to provide a Spanish-language election program.
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• Common Cause S. Christian Leadership Conference of LA v. Jones (2002) – The question before the court was
whether the permission granted by California’s secretary of state to counties to adopt either punch-card voting
procedures or more reliable voting procedures violated Section 2 because the counties which chose the punch-card
system have high racial minority populations in comparison with counties using other voting systems. The court
concluded that racial minorities were disproportionately denied the right to vote because their votes were uncounted in disproportionate numbers as a result of the voting mechanism they are supplied. The court entered a consent
decree requiring the nine California counties using the pre-scored punch card voting systems to convert to other
certified voting equipment by March 2004.
• United States v. Upper San Gabriel Valley Municipal Water District (2000) – On July 21, 2000, DOJ filed a
complaint against the Upper San Gabriel Valley Municipal Water District in Los Angeles County, California, challenging the districting plan for the five election divisions from which the Water District Board of Directors was
elected. The complaint alleged that the districting plan fragmented the Hispanic population concentration primarily by dividing predominantly Hispanic areas and placing them in separate divisions, resulting in Hispanic citizens
being denied an equal opportunity to participate in the electoral process and to elect candidates of their choice, in
violation of Section 2. While Hispanic persons comprised 46.49 percent of the population of the Water District
according to the 1990 Census and nine Hispanic candidates had run for positions on the board of directors, no
Hispanic person had ever been elected to the board in its 40-year history. During the pendency of the lawsuit, the
water district adopted a new districting plan which did not dilute Hispanic voting strength and under which elections were held in 2002.

Florida
Section 5 Objections:
• State of Florida (2002) – In 2002, the state proposed a new redistricting plan for the Florida House of Representatives that eliminated the one majority Latino district in Collier County. DOJ objected to the plan, concluding that
given the context of electoral behavior in the district and the availability of alternative plans, the state had not met
its burden to establish that the reduction would not result in retrogression in Latino voters’ effective exercise of
their electoral franchise.
Other Voting Rights Act Violations:
• U.S. v. Town of Lake Park (2009) – On March 31, 2009, DOJ filed a complaint against the town of Lake Park in
Palm Beach County, FL for violations of Section 2. The complaint alleged that the town’s at-large system of electing its commissioners denied Black voters an equal opportunity to elect representatives of their choice. Although
Black voting age citizens composed 38 percent of Lake Park’s total citizen voting age population, no Black
candidate had been elected to office since the town’s founding in 1923. On October 26, 2009, the court entered a
consent judgment and decree replacing the at-large method of election with a limited voting plan providing for the
election of four commissioners with concurrent terms.
• U.S. v. The School Board of Osceola County (2008) – On April 16, 2008, DOJ filed a complaint alleging that the
boundaries of the school board’s single-member districts diluted Latino voting strength by dividing the largest
Latino population concentration between two districts such that none of the five districts was majority Latino in
eligible voters. The consent judgment and decree, in which the parties stipulated that the existing districts violated
Section 2, provided for a new plan which includes one district with a Latino voter registration majority.
• U.S. v. Osceola County (2006) – DOJ filed a complaint against the county and its supervisor of elections alleging
violations of Section 2. Although the county required commissioner candidates to live in residency districts, they
were elected at large by all of the county’s voters. Beginning in 1992, a change to a single-member district voting
system to give voting parity to the county’s burgeoning Latino population was repeatedly proposed and rejected,
both in committee and by referendum. In 2002, the county signed a consent decree with the U.S. to remedy the
problem, but voting inequities continued. After issuing a preliminary injunction, holding an evidentiary hearing,
and ordering post-trial briefing, the court found as a matter of law that, under the totality of the circumstances, the
county’s at-large voting system caused an unlawful dilution of the Latino vote.
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• United States v. Orange County, FL (2002) – On June 28, 2002, DOJ filed a complaint against Orange County,
Florida, alleging violations of Sections 203 and 208 of the Voting Rights Act. The complaint alleged that the
county failed to provide an adequate number of bilingual workers to serve its Spanish-speaking voters, and that its
poll workers interfered with the ability of voters to receive assistance from the persons of their choice. A consent
decree, signed by a three-judge panel of the court on October 8, 2002, required the city to increase the number of
bilingual poll workers and to permit voters their assistors of choice consistent with Section 208.

Georgia
Section 5 Objections:
• State of Georgia (2012) – In 2012, the state of Georgia passed statewide legislation that had the sole effect of
changing the date for the non-partisan mayoral and commissioner elections for the consolidated government of
Augusta-Richmond from November to July, a veiled effort to dilute minority voting strength. After analyzing the
proposed plan under Section 5, DOJ concluded that moving Augusta-Richmond’s mayoral and commissioner
elections from November to July would disproportionately impact the turnout of African-American voters. DOJ
also concluded that there was evidence that Georgia’s actions in adopting this legislation were driven, in part, by a
racially discriminatory purpose. In the wake of the Shelby decision, the Georgia secretary of state has announced
that the 2014 election for Augusta-Richmond County will be held at the time of the primary rather than the November general election. (See page 28)
• Long County and Long County School District (2012) – The county proposed redistricting plans for the board
of commissioners and the board of education under which the Black voting age population of District 3 decreased
by 6.7 percentage points, from 47.2 percent to 40.5 percent. DOJ determined that the plan would have caused African-American voters to experience an avoidable retrogression of their ability to elect candidates of their choice.
• Greene County and Greene County School District (2012) – The county proposed redistricting plans for the
board of commissioners and the board of education that would have eliminated the ability of African-American
voters to elect candidates of choice in two single-member districts.
• State of Georgia (2009) – The state proposed to establish a voter verification program for voter registration application data, including citizenship status, and changes to the voter registration application. However, the state’s
procedures for verifying voter registration information did not produce accurate and reliable information and thousands of citizens who would be eligible to vote under Georgia law were flagged. The flawed system frequently
subjected a disproportionate number of African-American, Asian, and/or Latino voters to additional and erroneous burdens on the right to register to vote. DOJ subsequently precleared a modified version of the program that
resolved a Section 5 declaratory judgment action brought by Georgia in the U.S. District Court for the District of
Columbia.
• Lowndes County (2009) – The proposed redistricting plan for the county commission would have added two
single-member commissioner districts. Under the existing plan, African-American voters had the ability to elect
a candidate of their choice in one of the three single-member districts in the county. Under the proposed plan,
African Americans would have had the ability to elect a candidate of choice in only one out of five single-member
districts. The plan, therefore, would have placed Black voters in a worse electoral position than under the benchmark plan.
• Randolph County (2006) – In January 2006, the three-member Randolph County Board of Registrars held a
special meeting for the sole purpose of determining anew the proper voter registration location of Henry Cook,
an African-American candidate for office from District 5. The all-White board of registrars voted unanimously to
change the voter registration status of Cook and his family members from District 5, where more than 70 percent
of the voters are African-American, to District 4, where more than 70 percent of the voters are White. In addition
to the sequence of events being procedurally and substantively unusual, the board resurrected an issue that had
been settled three years earlier by a judge in the Superior Court of Tift County, who ruled that Cook was eligible
to vote and run for office in District 5. DOJ objected to this change.
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• Marion County School District (2002) – The county proposed a redistricting plan that would have decreased the
number of viable minority districts by one and, moreover, reduced the ability of Black voters to elect candidates
of choice in an additional district. Due to the drop in the Black population, the proposed 2002 redistricting plan
contained only two districts (as opposed to three in the benchmark plan) in which Black people were a majority of
the voting age population. In one of the two remaining Black majority districts, the Black voting age population
dropped to 50.7 percent. Given the pattern of racially polarized voting, the significant reduction in Black voting
strength would have necessarily entailed a material reduction in the ability of Black voters to elect candidates of
choice under the proposed plan.
• City of Albany (2002) – The city proposed a redistricting plan in which the Black population in Ward 4 would
be reduced to 31 percent in spite of having steadily increased over the past two decades. In the 2000 Census, the
ward’s Black population increased to nearly 51 percent only to be reduced by the proposed plan in order to forestall creation of a Black district. The reduction in the Black population was neither inevitable nor required by any
constitutional legal imperative.
• Putnam County and Putnam County School District (2002) – The proposed redistricting plans for the Putnam
County School District and the board of commissioners contained only one district in which Black persons would
have been a majority of the voting age population. However, given the data from the 2000 Census, there were
two districts under the 1982 benchmark plan in which Black people were at the time a majority of the voting age
population. The Black percentage of the voting age population in proposed District 1 was cut almost in half by the
proposed plan, while the Black percentage of the voting age population in proposed District 2 dropped slightly.
• City of Ashburn (2001) – The city proposed changes regarding the adoption of numbered posts for city councilmembers and majority-vote requirement for the election of city officers. The numbered posts method has the effect
of frustrating single-shot voting; single-shot voting has often been used by Black voters to overcome the refusal
of White voters to support candidates that the minority community supports. A majority-vote requirement also
creates head-to-head contests between minority and White candidates; the imposition of such a requirement would
have resulted in a runoff in which the White vote controlled the outcome of the election.
• City of Tignall (2000) – The city proposed to amend the city charter to change the method of election for the city
council to numbered posts with staggered terms and a majority vote requirement. The proposed system would
have eliminated the opportunity that minority voters had under the existing system to boost the effectiveness
of their vote for their preferred candidate through single-shot voting. The imposition of numbered posts and a
majority-vote requirement made more likely head-to-head contests between minority and White candidates where
minority candidates would be more likely to lose than under the existing system with concurrent terms and a plurality voting requirement.
• Webster County School District (2000) – The process of developing a new redistricting plan was initiated after
the school district elected a majority Black school board for the first time in 1996. The county proposed a redistricting plan for the Board of Education of Webster County that would have reduced the minority population in the
three majority Black districts. Given that the voting patterns in Webster County appeared to be racially polarized,
the reductions in minority voting strength raised serious doubt about whether minorities would continue to have
an equal opportunity to elect candidates of choice in the districts with the reduced Black populations.
Other Voting Rights Act Violations:
• Georgia State Conference of the NAACP, et al. v. Fayette County Board of Commissioners, et al. (2013) – In
2013, a federal court struck down, as violative of Section 2, Fayette County’s at-large method of electing members
to the county board of commissioners and board of education. The court found that although Black residents comprise 20 percent of Fayette County, are geographically concentrated in the county, and consistently vote together
for board of commissioners and board of education candidates, no Black candidate has ever been elected to either
of these boards in the county’s 191-year history. As a remedy for the violation, the court ordered that future elections be conducted under a district voting plan.
• United States v. Long County, GA (2006) – On February 8, 2006, the United States filed a complaint against Long
County, Georgia under Section 2. The complaint alleged that Long County officials required 45 Latino residents
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whose right to vote had been challenged on the grounds that they were not U.S. citizens to attend a hearing and
prove their citizenship, even though there was no evidence calling into question their citizenship and even though
similarly situated non-Latinos were not required to do so. According to the complaint, the defendants’ conduct had
the effect of denying Latino voters an equal opportunity to participate in the political process and to elect candidates of their choice. On February 10, 2006, the district court entered a consent decree that requires defendants
to train their election officials and poll workers on federal law, to maintain uniform procedures for responding to
voter challenges, and to notify Latino voters who were challenged that no evidence was presented to support the
challenges against them and that they are free to vote.

Hawaii
Other Voting Rights Act Violations:
• Arakaki v. Hawaii (2002) – Hawaii’s election law required candidates for trustees of the Office of Hawaiian
Affairs (OHA) to be Hawaiian. The court held that the trustee qualification is a clear violation of § 2 because it
disqualifies all non-Hawaiians from running for the office of OHA trustee on the basis of their race alone.

Illinois
Other Voting Rights Act Violations:
• United States v. Kane County, IL (2007) – On September 26, 2007, DOJ filed a complaint against Kane County
alleging violations of Section 203. On November 7, the court entered an order granting the joint motion for extension of time for the defendants to answer the United States’ complaint and ordering the appointment of federal observers until December 31, 2010. The joint motion was submitted as part of a memorandum of agreement between
the United States and Kane County to ensure compliance with Sections 203 and 208.
• U.S. v. Town of Cicero (2000) – On March 14, 2000, the United States obtained a temporary restraining order
enjoining the town of Cicero from placing a referendum on the ballot to alter the residency requirements to run
for mayor. In its complaint, the United States alleged that defendants sought the referendum with a discriminatory
purpose of excluding two Latino candidates from running for mayor in the 2001 municipal elections, in violation
of Section 2. On October 23, 2000, the court entered a stipulated order authorizing the appointment of federal
observers to monitor town elections through 2005.

Louisiana
Section 5 Objections:
• East Feliciana Parish, Louisiana (2011) – The parish proposed a redistricting plan that included the creation,
realignment, and renumbering of voting precincts. In this plan, District 5 is an ability-to-elect district for African
Americans. DOJ concluded that the significant reduction in the percentage of Black people in the total population,
the voting age population, and the number of registered voters in the district would mean that Black voters in the
proposed district would no longer have the ability to elect a candidate of choice to office. Therefore, the department blocked the implementation of this change.
• State of Louisiana (2009) – The state proposed a change to the period during which parish officials would be
prohibited from changing precinct boundaries. The proposed change would have been a sharp departure from prior
law and practice in that it would have frozen precinct boundaries for a longer period of time and would not provide exceptions or a window of opportunity similar to those available to elected officials in prior decades. Under
the proposed change, local officials would have been hindered in their ability to comply with the VRA because the
state had not taken steps to ensure that they would be able to adjust voting precinct boundaries to fairly recognize
minority voting strength.
• Town of Delhi (2005) – The proposed redistricting plan for the town of Delhi eliminated one of the four wards in
which Black voters had the ability to elect candidates of their choice. The elimination of the ward was not necessary, and the town previously rejected a less-retrogressive alternative.
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• City of Ville Platte (2004) – DOJ objected to the proposed redistricting plan for the city of Ville Platte, in which
the city’s Black population percentage had increased both consistently and considerably. The proposed 2003 redistricting plan eliminated the Black population majority in District F by reducing it to 38.1 percent.
• City of Plaquemine (2003) – The proposed redistricting plan for the city of Plaquemine amended the benchmark
plan, which contained three Black-majority districts with an ability to elect candidate of choice to a plan that
retains only two such districts. In the third district, the Black voting age population was reduced from 51.1 percent
to 48.5 percent, which called into question the ability of Black voters to elect their candidate of choice due to the
racial polarization in voting for the city’s board of selectmen and other citywide elections.
• Tangipahoa Parish (2003) – The proposed redistricting plan reduced the number of districts where the AfricanAmerican community had the ability to elect their candidate of choice from three to two, thus violating Section 5.
• Richland Parish School District (2003) – In the proposed redistricting plan for the school district, Black voters
had an ability to elect candidates of their choice in two out of nine districts as opposed to three of nine in the 1993
benchmark plan. Moreover, Black voters had consistently elected candidates of choice in these three districts.
• DeSoto Parish School District (2002) – The proposed redistricting plan for the school district would have preserved only four of five districts in which Black voters had the ability to elect their candidates of choice. In the
benchmark plan, five of the eleven districts in the benchmark plan had a total population that is majority Black
and which had elected the candidate of choice of Black voters.
• Pointe Coupee Parish School District (2002) – The school district proposed a redistricting plan for an eightmember board in which members would be elected from single-member districts. Under the benchmark plan,
there were three districts in which Black people were a majority of the voting age population and had elected
candidates of choice on the basis of strong, cohesive Black support. In contrast, the proposed 2002 redistricting
plan contained only two such districts.
• Town of Minden (2002) – Under the benchmark plan, three of the five districts in Minden had both total and
voting-age populations that were majority Black and which in fact had been electing the candidate of choice of
Black voters to the council. The proposed plan would have maintained the ability-to-elect candidates of choice for
Black voters in only two of these three districts.
Other Voting Rights Act Violations:
• St. Bernard Citizens for Better Government v. St. Bernard Parish School Board (2002) – In January 2002,
voters approved a plan that reduced the size of the Parish School Board from 11 members elected from singlemember districts to seven members, including five elected from single-member districts and two elected at-large.
The federal court found that the plan violated the plaintiff class’ rights under Section 2 insofar as the plan reduced
the size of the Board and diluted Black voting strength.
• United States v. Morgan City, LA (2000) – In this complaint filed June 27, 2000, DOJ alleged that the at-large
method of electing city councilmembers in Morgan City, LA violated Section 2 by diluting the voting strength of
Black voters. On August 16, 2000, the court entered a consent decree, which provided for a change in the method
of election from at-large to five single member districts, one of which provided Black voters with an opportunity
to elect a representative of choice.
• Greig v. City of St. Martinville (2000) – On June 2, 2000, DOJ filed a cross-claim against the city of St. Martinville that alleged a violation of Section 2. This action was initiated by private plaintiffs against the city of St.
Martinville and the United States over the city’s failure to conduct two consecutive city council elections. The
United States alleged that the city’s action and inaction with respect to its redistricting process in the 1990s (its
adoption of three retrogressive plans and the council members’ holding over in office) denied or abridged Black
voters’ right to vote on account of race. The case was resolved when the city adopted a new redistricting plan
prepared by the court’s special master, which received Section 5 preclearance and scheduled elections pursuant to
the precleared plan. On July 19, 2001, the suit was voluntarily dismissed.
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Massachusetts
Other Voting Rights Act Violations:
• United States v. City of Springfield, MA (2006) – On August 2, 2006, DOJ filed a complaint against the city of
Springfield, Massachusetts, alleging violations of Sections 203 and 208. The complaint alleged that the city failed
to provide an adequate pool of bilingual workers to serve its Spanish-speaking voters, and that its poll workers
interfered with the ability of voters to receive assistance from the persons of their choice. On September 15, 2006,
a settlement agreement was entered that allowed DOJ to monitor future elections in the city of Springfield and
required the city to increase the number of bilingual poll workers, employ a bilingual coordinator, and establish a
bilingual advisory group.
• United States v. City of Boston, MA (2005) – On July 29, 2005, the United States filed a complaint against the city
of Boston under Sections 2 and 203 alleging that the city’s election practices and procedures discriminate against
persons of Spanish, Chinese, and Vietnamese heritage, in violation of Section 2. The suit also alleged that the city
had violated Section 203 by failing to make all election information available in Spanish to voters who needed
it. The complaint alleged that in conducting elections in Boston, defendants treated limited-English proficient
Latino and Asian American voters disrespectfully, improperly influenced, coerced or ignored the ballot choices of
limited-English proficient Latino and Asian American voters, and refused or failed to provide provisional ballots
to limited-English proficient Latino and Asian American voters. On October 18, 2005, the three-judge panel of the
court issued an order authorizing federal examiners through December 31, 2008; retaining the court’s jurisdiction
through expiration of the federal examiner designation and the agreement, both to occur on December 31, 2008;
and providing that either DOJ or the city may petition to the court to resolve any disputes during the life of the
agreement.
• Black Political Task Force v. Galvin (2004) – The court held that the redistricting plan for the state legislature
diluted the voting power of African-American voters so that they could not elect the candidate of their choice.
The court held that the plan deprived African-American voters of the rights guaranteed to them by Section 2. The
redistricting plan, in delineating the 17 House districts at issue, diluted the voting power of African-American
voters and denied them equal opportunity to participate in the political process and to elect representatives of their
choice.

Michigan
Section 5 Objections:
• Buena Vista Township, Saginaw County (2007) – In 2007, Buena Vista Township closed the secretary of state’s
branch office. The Buena Vista office closure would have impaired the ability of minorities to register to vote. At
the time of the objection, the Buena Vista office was the only branch office in a majority-minority township in the
county and would have significantly lowered minority registration. Moreover, the closure of the office would have
made it more difficult for minorities to comply with the state’s photo ID requirement by reducing the opportunities
to obtain Michigan IDs. These factors established that the state had failed to sustain its burden of showing that the
closure of the Buena Vista office would not have had a retrogressive effect on minority electoral participation.
Other Voting Rights Act Violations:
• United States v. City of Hamtramck, MI (2000) – In this complaint, the United States alleged that the city violated 42 U.S.C. 1971 and Section 2 by implementing discriminatory, race-based challenges at the polls directed
at Arab Americans. The facts showed that in the general election of November 2, 1999, city election officials
required Arab-American voters to take an oath as a condition to voting, without requiring a factual basis for the
challenges. On August 7, 2000, the court approved a consent order and decree, which required the city to train
election officials and poll workers on the proper application of federal and state laws, including nondiscriminatory
challenge procedures, to appoint Arabic- and Bengali-speaking election inspectors, and certified the city for the assignment of federal observers through December 31, 2003.
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Mississippi
Section 5 Objections:
• City of Clinton, Mississippi (2012) – In 2011, the city of Clinton, Mississippi, proposed a districting plan for its
six-member council that, like the existing plan, did not include a single ward where African-American voters had
the power to elect their candidate of choice, despite the fact that 34 percent of the city’s population was AfricanAmerican. After careful review under Section 5, DOJ found reliable evidence that the city of Clinton acted with a
racially discriminatory purpose in its decision not to create an ability-to-elect ward for African-American voters.
In the wake of DOJ’s objection, the city redrew the council district lines, creating, for the first time, a ward where
African-American voters would have the ability to elect their preferred candidate.
• City of Natchez, Mississippi (2012) – In 2011, the city of Natchez, Mississippi, proposed a redistricting plan that
reduced the percentage of African-American voters in one ward (Ward 5) by 6 percent and placed these voters
into the three wards that were already majority African-American. This change decreased the Black voting-age
population in the impacted ward from almost 53 percent to under 47 percent, thus eliminating the ability of African Americans in that ward to elect their preferred candidate. After careful review, DOJ concluded that the city’s
efforts to reduce the African-American population in Ward 5 were done with a discriminatory purpose.
• Amite County (2011) – The proposed redistricting plan for the board of supervisors and election commissioner
districts reduced the Black population levels in District 3 to the extent that the existing ability to elect in the
benchmark plan had been eliminated. While the county contended that an ability to elect would exist in proposed
District 5, DOJ found that District 5 turnout among Black voters was low, and they exhibited lower levels of electoral cohesiveness than was present in the benchmark District 3. The relatively lower turnout and cohesion would
have had a negative impact on the ability of minority voters to participate effectively in the political process in the
county as a whole.
• State of Mississippi (2010) – The state proposed a change that would require candidates for county boards of
education, the board of trustees of certain municipalities, and special municipal separate school districts embracing an entire county to be elected by a majority of the votes cast in an election. The change would require a runoff election three weeks after the election if no candidate received a majority of the votes. After several requests
from DOJ, the state failed to provide the critical information necessary to determine if the change met Section 5
standards.
• Town of Kilmichael (2001) – The town cancelled a general election for the office of mayor and five-member
board of aldermen only after Black people had become a majority of the registered voters and the release of
census data indicating that Black people were now a majority of the population in the town. Moreover, the town
sought to cancel the election in order to develop a single-member ward system for electing officials only after the
qualification period for the election had closed, and it became evident that there were several Black candidates for
office, wherein the minority community had very strong potential to win a majority of municipal offices (under the
existing at-large electoral method) for the first time in the town’s history.
Other Voting Rights Act Violations:
• United States v. Brown (2009) – A federal court found in 2009 that the defendants violated the rights of White
voters during the 2003 primary and subsequent runoff elections in Noxubee County. White votes were diluted by
the defendants’ involvement in (1) obtaining large numbers of defective absentee ballots from Black voters; (2)
facilitating the improper counting of absentee ballots in order to ensure that the defective ballots were counted;
and (3) permitting the improper assistance of Black voters.

Montana
Other Voting Rights Act Violations:
• U.S. v. Blaine County (2004) – In its complaint, DOJ alleged that the at-large method of election for the Blaine
County Commission violated Section 2 because it denied Native American residents an equal opportunity to
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participate in the political process and elect candidates of their choice. The district court first issued an opinion
rejecting the county’s challenge to the constitutionality of Section 2. Following trial, the court issued a decision
holding that the plan violated Section 2 and ordered the county to adopt a remedial plan. The county appealed the
district court’s decisions on the constitutionality of Section 2 as well as its finding that the at-large election method
violated federal law to the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit. The court of appeals decision affirmed both
findings.
• United States v. Roosevelt County, MT (2000) – On March 24, 2000, the United States filed a complaint against
Roosevelt County, Montana, alleging that the at-large method of election for the Roosevelt County Commission
diluted the voting strength of American Indian voters in violation of Section 2. Simultaneously with the filing of
the complaint the court approved the parties’ consent decree which provided for the election of the three county
commissioners from three single-member districts, one of which is majority-Indian.

Nebraska
Other Voting Rights Act Violations:
• United States v. Colfax County, NE (2012) – In February 2012, DOJ filed a complaint alleging violations of
Section 203 by failing to provide all election materials, information and assistance in Spanish that are already
provided in English. On March 2, 2012, the court entered a consent order as well as the authorization of federal
observers until March 30, 2015.

New Jersey
Other Voting Rights Act Violations:
• U.S. v. Salem County and the Borough of Penns Grove, NJ, et al. (2008) – On July 28, 2008, DOJ simultaneously filed a complaint and proposed consent decree against Salem County and the Borough of Penns Grove, New
Jersey, alleging that the defendants had violated the VRA against Latino voters with disparate treatment, lack of
Spanish-language materials and the denial to voters of the right to choose their assistor of choice. In particular, the
complaint alleged that in conducting elections in Penns Grove, the defendants directed hostile or discriminatory
remarks at, or otherwise acted in a hostile manner toward, Latino voters, which in many instances made them feel
unwelcome at the polls and failed to protect Latino voters from unfounded or discriminatory challenges, and that
political campaigns in Penns Grove, including 2006 and 2007 campaigns for mayor and city council, had been
characterized by racial appeals as well as attempts to intimidate Latino voters. On July 29, the court entered the
settlement agreement. While not admitting the allegations of the complaint, the defendants committed to implement procedures that will protect the rights of Latinos to fully participate in the electoral process in compliance
with the VRA, for all future elections.

New Mexico
Other Voting Rights Act Violations:
• U.S. v. Sandoval County (2007) – On November 28, 2007, a three-judge court entered an order and amended joint
stipulation, modifying and extending the existing consent decree until January 31, 2009. The United States had
earlier filed a complaint alleging that the state of New Mexico and Sandoval County had violated Sections 2 and
203 by failing to provide voting and election information in Keres and Navajo, American Indian languages that are
historically unwritten. The parties initially resolved this case in 1990 through a settlement agreement that required
the state and county to implement a Native American Election Information Program (NAEIP). Pursuant to the
agreement, the case was dismissed against the state defendants on December 31, 1990. On September 9, 1994, the
court entered a consent decree proposed by the county and the United States, which modified the original NAEIP
and extended the modified program through September 9, 2004. On November 8, 2004, the court entered an order
approving a joint stipulation between the county and the United States, which further modified the NAEIP and
extended its provisions through January 15, 2007. On April 3, 2007, the United States and the county filed a joint
motion seeking the extension through 2009.
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New York
Other Voting Rights Act Violations:
• Alliance of South Asian American Labor et al v. Board of Elections of the City of New York (2013) – The plaintiffs sued the NYC Board of Elections for failing to comply with the language assistance provisions of the VRA.
At the time the suit was filed, four elections had passed since the Census Bureau announced that Queens County
was covered under Section 203 for Asian Indian language assistance, but the board had not complied with the law.
The case was settled in March of 2014, with the board agreeing to provide language assistance to the Asian Indian
voters in Queens.
• United States v. Orange County, NY (2012) – DOJ filed a complaint in April 2012 alleging that Orange County
failed to comply with the requirements of Section 4(e) by not providing critical election-related information and
language assistance in Spanish to thousands of limited-English proficient Puerto Rican voters. On April 19, the
court entered the parties’ proposed consent decree. Under the agreement, the county must implement a comprehensive bilingual elections program, including providing bilingual ballots countywide and hiring and training
more bilingual workers to offer effective language assistance at the polls.
• U.S. v. Village of Port Chester (2010) – The court determined that the at-large voting system for election members of the board of trustees prevented Latino voters from participating equally in the political process in the
village and entered an order finding a Section 2 violation and adopting the village’s proposed remedial plan which
included a cumulative voting system.
• United States v. Westchester County, NY (2005) – In this action, DOJ alleged in its complaint that the county had
violated both Section 203 by failing to have an effective Spanish language election program and Section 302 of
HAVA by failing to post the information required by the section to be posted in polling places. On July 19, 2005, a
consent decree resolving both claims was approved by a three-judge court. The decree required the county to provide a Spanish-language election program and to assure compliance with HAVA. On January 3, 2008, the consent
decree was extended through December 31, 2008.
• United States v. Suffolk County, NY (2004) – DOJ alleged in its complaint that the county violated Section 203
by not having sufficient bilingual election officials, not translating all election-related information into Spanish, as
required by the VRA, and by failing to adequately train its election officials to prevent hostile treatment of Latino
voters, who are limited-English proficient. On October 4, 2004, the court entered a consent decree that required
the county to establish an effective Spanish-language election program. The consent decree also permitted the assignment of federal observers to monitor county elections.
• United States v. Brentwood Union Free School District, NY (2003) – DOJ alleged in its complaint that the
Brentwood School District had violated Section 203 because it did not have sufficient bilingual election officials,
did not translate all election-related information into Spanish, as required by the VRA, and failed to adequately
train its election officials to prevent hostile treatment of Latino voters who are limited-English proficient. On July
14, 2003, the court entered a consent decree that required the county to establish an effective Spanish language
election program. The consent decree also permitted the assignment of federal observers to monitor school district
elections.
• Arbor Hill Concerned Citizens Neighborhood Ass’n. v. County of Albany (2003) – Plaintiffs sued the county
and its elections board alleging that the county’s redistricting plan diluted minority voting strength in violation of
Section 2. A magistrate judge issued a preliminary injunction to prevent the county from implementing the new redistricting plan for county elections. The court agreed with the magistrate judge and the defendants were enjoined
from conducting the scheduled 2003 election of Albany County legislators pending adoption of a new redistricting
plan that was compliant with the VRA.
• New Rochelle Voter Defense Fund v. City of New Rochelle (2003) – The plaintiffs claimed that the city violated
Section 2 by creating a new district during reapportionment that diluted the vote of African Americans. The court
held that the city had no legitimate reason for doing this and ordered that the city revert back to its previous plan.
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North Carolina
Section 5 Objections:
• Pitt County (2012) – Session Law 2011-174 reduced the number of school board members from 12 to seven,
changed the method of election, and reduced the terms of office from six years to four years. The benchmark plan
provided Black voters with the ability to elect candidates of their choice to two of 12 seats. The change in the
number of school board members in conjunction with the method of election would have decreased minority-preferred officials on the school board from two of 12 to one of seven and was, therefore, found to be retrogressive.
• City of Kinston (2009) – The city proposed a change to nonpartisan elections, with a plurality-vote requirement.
Although Black people comprise a majority of the city’s registered voters, in three of the four previous general
municipal elections, African Americans comprised a minority of the electorate on Election Day and had had limited success in electing candidates of choice during recent municipal elections. The small amount of White crossover votes resulted from the party affiliation of Black-preferred candidates. DOJ analysis found that the elimination of party affiliation on the ballot would have likely reduced the ability of Black voters to elect their candidates
of choice. The objection was subsequently withdrawn based on new evidence.
• City of Fayetteville (2007) – The city proposed a change to the method of election from nine single-member districts to six single-member districts, with three other positions filled by the top three vote recipients in an at-large
election. Under the existing system, African-American voters had elected candidates of their choice to four of
the nine positions on the council in all instances. However, under the proposed plan, it was unlikely that AfricanAmerican voters would have had a comparable ability to elect candidates of their choice to the same proportion of
positions on the council.
• Harnett County and Harnett County School District (2002) – The redistricting plans for the Board of Commissioners and the Board of Education contained no district in which Black people were a majority in either total or
voting age population. However, in the benchmark plan, Black people did constitute a majority in both total and
voting age populations in one district. The county did not establish that this reduction would not have resulted in
retrogression in the ability of minority voters to exercise their electoral franchise.

North Dakota
Other Voting Rights Act Violations:
• Spirit Lake Tribe v. Benson County (2010) – The Spirit Lake Tribe filed a suit against Benson County Board of
Commissioners asking a federal court to stop the county from closing polling places on the Spirit Lake Reservation during the November 2010 general election. The court granted in part and denied in part the motion for a
preliminary injunction, ordering two of the voting places to remain open for the 2010 election.

Ohio
Other Voting Rights Act Violations:
• United States v. Lorain County, OH (2011) – In October 2011, DOJ filed a complaint alleging that the county
violated the requirements of Section 4(e) by not providing critical election-related information and assistance in
Spanish to LEP Puerto Rican voters. A federal district court judge granted the proposed order in October 2011,
under which the county agreed to provide a bilingual machine ballot and hire more bilingual workers starting with
the November 8, 2011 election. The county also agreed to take additional steps to create a compliant bilingual
election program beginning with elections held in 2012.
• United States v. Cuyahoga County, Ohio (2010) – In September 2010, DOJ filed a complaint alleging that the
county did not provide critical election-related information in Spanish to limited-English proficient Puerto Rican
voters, including the ballot, and failed to provide an adequate number of bilingual poll officials trained to assist
Spanish-speaking voters on Election Day. On September 3, 2010, the court entered an agreed judgment and order.
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• U.S. v. City of Euclid (2008) – DOJ filed a complaint against the city of Euclid, which alleged that the mixed
at-large/ward system of electing the city council diluted the voting strength of African-American citizens. In the
course of the investigation, it was found that while African-Americans composed nearly 30 percent of Euclid’s
electorate, and although there had been eight recent African-American candidacies for the Euclid City Council,
not a single African-American candidate had ever been elected to that body. Further, in seven recent elections for
Euclid City Council, African Americans voted cohesively and White voters voted sufficiently as a bloc to defeat
the African-American voters’ candidates of choice. The board of elections and the city implemented an approved
remedial plan.
• U.S. v. Euclid City School Board (2009) – In Euclid, Ohio, board members were elected on an at-large basis.
At that time, no African American had ever been elected to serve as mayor, council member, or board member
in the city of Euclid. The board conceded that its method of elections denied minorities the opportunity to participate meaningfully in the political process, in violation of Section 2. This stipulation was based in part on the
conclusions reached by the court during the United States v. City of Euclid lawsuit. In July 2009, the district court
ordered the board and the Cuyahoga County Board of Elections to implement the proposed remedy.

Pennsylvania
Other Voting Rights Act Violations:
• English v. Chester County (2010) – Civil liberties groups, including the ACLU of Pennsylvania, the ACLU Voting Rights Project, and the Public Interest Law Center of Philadelphia, filed a federal lawsuit on January 20, 2010,
on behalf of African-American residents and Lincoln University students in Chester County, asserting that the
Chester County Board of Elections and Department of Voter Services deprived African Americans in Lower Oxford East Township of their right to vote by assigning them to inconvenient and inadequate polling facilities. The
suit asked the court to order Chester County to return the Lower Oxford East polling place to the Lincoln University campus, authorize federal elections monitors, and award damages to residents who faced extreme difficulties
or were prevented from voting in the 2008 general election. A settlement was reached in August 2010.
• United States v. New Black Panther Party (2009) – On January 7, 2009, DOJ filed a lawsuit against the New
Black Panther Party in the Eastern District of Pennsylvania alleging violations of Section 11(b). The lawsuit alleged multiple causes of action under Section 11(b), including intimidation of voters and those aiding voters. A
settlement with the principle defendant resolved the suit.
• U.S. v. City of Philadelphia (2007) – On October 13, 2006, the United States filed a complaint against the city of
Philadelphia, PA, under Sections 203 and 208 for failing to establish an effective Spanish bilingual program and
for denying limited-English proficient voters their assistor of choice. On April 26, 2007, the United States filed
an amended complaint, contemporaneously with the signing of a settlement agreement. The amended complaint
further alleged violations of Section 2 as the election system and procedures denied minority voters equal access to the election process, and Section 4(e) for its failure to provide election information to citizens educated in
Spanish in American flag schools in Puerto Rico; violations of HAVA for failing to provide alternative-language
information; and a violation of Section 8 of the National Voter Registration Act of 1993 for failing to remove
deceased voters from the rolls. The settlement agreement, among other things, required the defendants to establish
an effective bilingual program, including bilingual interpreters and alternative-language information; to allow
limited-English proficient voters to utilize assistors of choice; to provide alternative-language information; and to
undertake a program of voter list maintenance. On June 4, 2007, the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of
Pennsylvania entered an order retaining jurisdiction to enforce the terms of the settlement agreement until July 1,
2009.
• U.S. v. Berks County (2003) – DOJ alleged in its complaint that the county violated several sections of the VRA.
The facts showed that the county discriminated against Latino individuals, primarily Puerto Rican voters, through
hostile treatment at the polls, failure to provide adequate language assistance, and by not permitting Latino voters
to bring assistors of their choice into the polling place. These actions resulted in violations of Sections 2, 4(e), and
208. The court granted a preliminary injunction on March 18, 2003, and permanent relief on August 20, 2003.
Both decisions resulted in increased protection for Latino voters. Since the court entered its decision, DOJ has
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monitored elections, utilizing federal observers pursuant to a provision of the order, to ensure compliance with the
court’s order.

South Carolina
Section 5 Objections:
• Fairfield County School District (2010) – Act R136 provided for the temporary appointment of two seats on the
board of trustees by the legislative delegation for the Fairfield County School District. The information available
at the time indicated that neither member of the legislative delegation would have been a candidate of choice of
minority voters. Thus, DOJ found that the sole impact of the decision would have been to reduce the level of electoral influence that African-American voters had on the board.
• Richland-Lexington School District #5 (2004) – The proposed change, Act No. 326 (2002), adopted numbered
posts and a majority vote requirement. The benchmark election system consisted of seven board members elected
at large to staggered, four-year terms. The elections for membership on the school board were marked by a pattern
of racially polarized voting. Within the context of racially polarizing voting patterns, the electoral changes would
have operated to prevent Black voters from using single-shot voting to elect candidates of their choice.
• Charleston County School District (2004) – The objection concerned a change in the method of election for the
Board of Trustees for the Charleston County School District from nonpartisan to partisan elections. The change,
enacted despite the existence of a non-retrogressive alternative, would have significantly impaired the ability of
minority voters to elect candidates of choice to the school board and to participate fully in the political process.
The proposed change would have imposed a de facto majority-vote requirement that would have made it extremely difficult for minority-preferred candidates to win.
• Town of North, Orangeburg County, South Carolina (2003) – In September 2003, the town of North in Orangeburg County, South Carolina, proposed to annex a small population of Whites. However, because South Carolina is covered by Section 5, DOJ performed an investigation to determine whether this change would discriminate
against minority voters. DOJ concluded that the annexation could not go forward because “race appears to be an
overriding factor in how the town responds to annexation requests.” The letter denying the town approval to proceed with the annexation indicated that in the early 1990s, a large number of Blacks who reside to the southeast of
the town petitioned for annexation and were denied with no explanation from the town. The DOJ letter notes that
the granting of the petition by this group of Blacks “would have resulted in Black persons becoming a majority of
the town’s population.” Based on its investigation, DOJ concluded that the county did not provide equal access to
the annexation process for Black and Whites. DOJ blocked the proposed annexation from taking effect.
• Cherokee County School District 1 (2003) – The proposed change would have decreased the number of school
board members from nine to seven. Under the proposed change, the size of the board would have been reduced
to seven with Black people constituting a majority of the total population in only one of the seven districts. The
benchmark plan had provided Black voters with the ability to elect candidates of choice in two of the nine districts.
• City of Clinton (2002) – DOJ objected to the designation of annexations to Ward 1 of the city of Clinton. The
effect of the designation of the annexations to Ward 1 significantly reduced the level of Black voting strength in
that district and eliminated the ability that Black voters previously had to elect a candidate of their choice in that
district. The elimination of Ward 1 as a district in which Black voters could elect a candidate of choice reduced the
level of minority voting strength in the expanded city from three out of seven to two out of seven members of the
city council, while their relative share of the citywide electorate had dropped no more than a percentage point to
approximately 37 percent.
• Union County School District (2002) – Act R. 192 provided a redistricting plan for the board of trustees. The
proposed plan would have dropped the Black share of the total and voting age population in two districts, both
of which were the majority Black districts. DOJ found that the drop in Black voting age population was neither
inevitable nor required by any constitutional imperative.
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• Sumter County (2002) – Four of the seven districts in the benchmark plan had both total and voting-age populations that were majority Black. Under the new plan, in three of these four, Black voters would continue to have
had the ability to elect candidates of their choice under the proposed 2001 plan. However, in the fourth district,
Black voters would not have had the ability to elect a candidate of choice due to a decrease in the Black voting
age population. Due to the pattern of racially polarized voting in the county, the implementation of the proposed
plan would have resulted in retrogression in the minority voters’ effective exercise of their electoral franchise.
• City of Greer (2001) – In 2001, the city proposed a redistricting plan, which, in conjunction with a pattern of
racially polarized voting in the city, would have prevented minority voters from electing candidates of choice in
the sole remaining majority-minority district. The city had rejected less retrogressive alternative redistricting plans
supported by the minority community.
• City of Charleston (2001) – The city submitted a redistricting plan in 2001 that would have decreased the number
of majority-minority districts from six to five, which was necessary and unavoidable. However, the city also combined District 2 with District 4. The information available on demographic changes and the presence of racially
polarized voting in city elections indicated that in a few years, proposed District 4 would no longer be a district
in which minority voters would be able to elect a candidate of their choice. Such retrogression in minority voting
strength in District 4 was neither required nor inevitable.
Other Voting Rights Act Violations:
• State of South Carolina v. United States (2012) – South Carolina sought approval of its proposed voter ID law,
Act R54, in the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia after DOJ blocked the law when it was submitted
for preclearance. DOJ noted that registered minority voters in South Carolina are nearly 20 percent less likely than
their White counterparts to have a DMV-issued photo ID that would satisfy the requirements of the proposed law.
The court rejected South Carolina’s request to implement the photo identification measure ahead of the November
2012 election, citing the short timeframe for implementation of the procedure and education of voters prior to
the election. However, during the course of the litigation, the state substantially improved the procedures used to
implement the law to satisfy the court’s requirements and the court allowed South Carolina to implement the law
in 2013, provided that state election officials allow voters who lack photo ID to cast ballots as long as they provide
sufficient reasons for not having obtained one.
• United States v. Georgetown County School District, et. al. (2008) – On March 14, 2008, the United States filed a
complaint alleging violations of Section 2 that the at-large method of electing the board diluted the voting strength
of African-American citizens. On March 21, 2008, the Court entered a consent decree to remedy the violation.
• United States v. Charleston County (2004) – The United States brought suit alleging that the county’s at-large
system for electing its council diluted minority voting strength in violation of Section 2. The federal court concluded that the county’s system violated Section 2.

South Dakota
Section 5 Objections:
• Charles Mix County (2008) – The county proposed to increase the number of county commissioners from three
to five. The proposed change appeared to have a greater impact on Native Americans because, under the proposed
plan, Native American voters would have had an ability to elect their candidate of choice in only one of five districts, as opposed to one in three districts under the benchmark plan.
Other Voting Rights Act Violations:
• Bone Shirt v. Hazeltine (2006) – The court found that the legislative redistricting plan diluted the voting power of
Native American voters thereby violating Section 2. The court of appeals affirmed the finding that the legislators’
plan violated Section 2 and that the voters’ remedial plan, as adopted by the court, was an appropriate remedy.
• United States v. State of South Dakota (2000) –DOJ filed a complaint on March 31, 2000, alleging that the atlarge method of electing members for the South Dakota House of Representatives from District 28 had the intent
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and the result of diluting American Indian voting strength in violation of Section 2. In 1991, the state had created
two single-member districts in House District 28, designated as District No. 28A and District 28B. House District 28A had a majority-Indian total and voting-age population. In 1996, after electoral successes by American
Indian candidates in the 1994 primary elections, the state legislature eliminated the majority-Indian House district
and created an at-large, dual-member method of election for House District 28. Private interveners alleged both
Section 2 claims and a state law claim based on the contention that a provision of the South Dakota Constitution
prohibited redistricting during the middle of a decade. The federal district court certified this state law question
to the South Dakota Supreme Court, and that court ruled that mid-decade redistricting was not allowed under the
State Constitution. The case then returned to the federal district court which ordered a remedy that divided House
District 28 into two districts, one of which was majority-Indian. In the first election under this remedial plan, an
American Indian candidate was elected from the majority-Indian district.

Tennessee
Other Voting Rights Act Violations:
• Rural W. Tenn. African-American Affairs Council v. Sundquist (2000) –African-American plaintiffs sued under
Section 2, concerning legislation that reapportioned state legislative districts. Whites voted as a bloc to usually
defeat African-American voters’ candidates of choice. No African-American candidate had ever won an interracial legislative contest in the six-county area, despite many candidacies. The court concluded that the legislation
diluted African-American electoral strength and denied African Americans the opportunity to elect candidates of
their choice. African Americans made up 31 percent of the voting-age population but none of the districts contained a Black-voter majority.

Texas
Section 5 Objections:
• Beaumont Independent School District (2013) – The school district proposed to shorten the terms of four incumbents from four years to two years and to treat the candidate qualification period as having closed, with the effect that in three benchmark districts that provided Black voters with the ability-to-elect candidates of choice, the
Black-preferred incumbent trustees would have been removed from their offices and replaced with the candidates
they defeated in the last election.
• Beaumont Independent School District (2012) – The school district proposed to alter the method of election
from seven single-member districts to five single-member districts with two at-large positions. This change would
have reduced African-American voters’ ability to elect members of the school board from four to three. For Black
voters to maintain their level of voting strength under the new configuration, they would have to elect a candidate
of choice from one at-large position. The evidence suggested that they would not be able to do so.
• Galveston County (2012) – The county’s 2011 redistricting plan for justice of the peace/constable precincts
relocated a largely White area from one precinct to another, reducing the overall minority share of the electorate
in the latter district. DOJ also objected to the reduction in the number of election precincts for the justices of the
peace and constable. In the benchmark plan, minority voters possessed the ability to elect candidates of choice in
Precincts 2, 3, and 5 for the justice of the peace and constable districts, but the ability to elect was reduced to one
precinct under the proposed plan.
• Nueces County (2012) – In late 2011, the county commission in Nueces County, Texas, enacted a redistricting
plan that diminished the voice of Hispanic voters at the polls by swapping Hispanic and White voters between
election precincts. After careful review of the 2011 plan, DOJ concluded that the county’s actions “appear to
have been undertaken to have an adverse impact on Hispanic voters.” DOJ also noted that the county offered “no
plausible non-discriminatory justification” for these voter swaps, and instead offered “shifting explanations” for
the changes.”
• Runnels County (2010) – The county reduced its bilingual election assistance without seeking preclearance.
Despite an almost 50 percent increase in the county’s Latino population percentage since 1984, at least half of the
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county voting precincts did not have a bilingual poll worker in 2008 (general election) and no voting precincts had
a bilingual poll worker in 2009 (constitutional amendment election). In these elections the county offered only
on-call bilingual assistance by phone.
• Gonzales County (2010) – The county proposed a change to the Spanish-language election procedures, in which
the county would use internet website translation services for the initial translation of county-produced election
materials after which the county would send the materials to the Texas secretary of state and to the local League of
United Latin American Citizens (LULAC) chapter to confirm its accuracy. However, because there is no evidence
that the county has an agreement with the state to review the translation, the sole responsibility rests with the local
LULAC chapter, and the county has not provided sufficient information to establish this measure would ensure
adequate review of county-produced election materials. The county did not establish that the proposed procedure
for translation would not have a retrogressive effect when compared to the benchmark of engaging a third-party
translator.
• Gonzales County (2009) – The county implemented bilingual procedures that diverged from the benchmark practices on three separate occasions and did not seek preclearance. In regard to the county’s provision of electionrelated materials to voters, a significant number of the county’s election notices and other documents containing
election-related information were made available only in English. Moreover, the Spanish language translations
of two notices from the 2008 and 2006 elections contained numerous errors that adversely affected their comprehensibility, including portions that were not translated, missing polling place names and addresses, incorrect word
choices with confusing or misleading results, misspelled words, and wrong conjugations. Lastly, the county fell
short of the benchmark procedures for the assignment of bilingual poll workers even in light of an almost onethird increase in the county’s Latino population percentage since the initial plan was implemented.
• State of Texas (2008) – The state proposed a change to the candidate qualification requirements for the position
of supervisor of a fresh water supply district. If the proposed candidate qualifications were implemented, Latino
supervisors who were known to be non-landowning residents of their district would have been unable to run for
reelection. Further statistical evidence demonstrated that the proposed change might have a future retrogressive
effect due to the significant disparity in home and agricultural land ownership rates between Whites and minorities
in Texas.
• State of Texas (2006) – Following the 2000 census, the state enacted a congressional redistricting plan that diluted
Latino voting strength in South Texas in violation of Section 2. In LULAC v. Perry, 548 U.S. 399 (2006), the U.S.
Supreme Court concluded that Latino plaintiffs had established that Latinos in Texas were sufficiently numerous
to comprise the majority of a district in South Texas, that Latinos vote cohesively, and that Whites vote as a bloc
normally to defeat the Latino-preferred candidate. The Court further found that under the totality of circumstances, the state had violated Section 2. The Court noted that, in removing Latino population from a Latino-majority
district, “[i]n essence the State took away the Latinos’ opportunity because Latinos were about to exercise it. This
bears the mark of intentional discrimination that could give rise to an equal protection violation.”
• North Harris Montgomery Community College District (2006) – The proposed change altered election procedures so that district elections would be held separately from independent school district elections. Due to the
change, voters would have to travel to two separate polling places in order to cast their ballots. Moreover, instead
of 84 polling places, there would be 12 polling places, in which the assignment of voters was remarkably uneven.
The site with the smallest proportion of minority voters would serve 6,500 voters, while the most heavily minority
site would serve over 67,000 voters.
• Freeport (2002) – The proposed change would have altered the method of election for city council members from
single-member districts to at-large with numbered positions. Under the benchmark system, minority voters had
demonstrated the ability to elect candidates of their choice in at least two districts. Given that city elections were
marked by a pattern of racially polarized voting, the proposal to institute an at-large method of election would
have had a retrogressive effect on the ability of minority voters to elect a candidate of their choice.
• Waller County (2002) – The county proposed redistricting plans for the commissioners court, justice of the
peace, and constable districts. Under the benchmark plan, there were two districts in which minority persons were
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a majority of the voting age population. In contrast, the proposed redistricting plans contained only one district
in which minority persons were a majority of the voting age population. Given the patterns of electoral behavior
in the county, the proposed reduction in the minority voting age percentage in Precinct 1 cast substantial doubt
on whether minority voters would retain the reasonable opportunity to elect their candidate of choice under the
proposed plan.
• State of Texas (2001) – The 2000 census indicated that the Latino share of the state’s population had increased
significantly from 1990. DOJ found that the proposed redistricting plan for the Texas House of Representatives
would lead to a prohibited retrogression in the position of minorities by causing a net loss of three districts in
which the minority community would have had the opportunity to elect its candidates of choice. Although there
was an increase in the number of districts in which Latinos would have been a majority of the voting age population, the number of districts in which the level of Spanish surnamed registration would have been more than 50
percent decreased by two (when compared with the benchmark plan). In two additional districts, the level of Spanish surname registration was reduced to the extent that the minority population in those districts would no longer
be able to elect candidates of choice.
• Haskell Consolidated Independent School District (2001) – The proposed change would have altered the
method of election from single-member districts to an at-large system employing cumulative voting. Under the
benchmark method of election, Latino voters were able to elect candidates of their choice to office in at least one
(of seven) districts. The school district conceded that it would be virtually impossible for minority voters to elect
at least one candidate of their choice under the board’s proposed method without non-Latino crossover voting,
and candidates favored by the Latino community had not consistently received significant non-Latino crossover
voting. Therefore, the proposed change had the ability to significantly reduce the ability of minority voters to elect
candidates of their choice to the school board.
• Sealy Independent School District (2000) – Since 1990, the school district experienced growth in the minority
share of its population. The school district sought to add to its at-large electoral system a numbered post requirement that, in effect, would convert each election for a seat on the board into a separate election contest, increasing the likelihood that minority-supported candidates would be pitted against White incumbents or challenged
in “head-to-head” contests. Given the evidence of racially polarized voting, minority-supported candidates were
unlikely to garner a majority of the votes in a bid for a single seat.
Other Voting Rights Act Violations:
• Texas v. Holder (2012) (vacated on appeal in light of Shelby Co. v. Holder) – Following DOJ’s objection to
S.B. 14, a newly-enacted law requiring in-person voters to present a photo ID, Texas sought a declaratory judgment from the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia that the law did not violate Section 5. However, the
court found that S.B. 14 violated Section 5 because the implicit costs of obtaining S.B. 14-qualifiying ID would
have fallen most heavily on the poor and a disproportionately high percentage of African Americans and Latinos
in Texas live in poverty. The court concluded that the evidence demonstrated that, if implemented, S.B. 14 would
have likely led to retrogression in the position of racial minorities with respect to their effective exercise of the
electoral franchise.
• Texas v. United States (2012) (vacated on appeal in light of Shelby Co. v. Holder) – Following DOJ’s objection
to its newly enacted redistricting plans for the U.S. House of Representatives, the Texas House of Representatives,
and the Texas Senate, the state of Texas filed a complaint seeking a declaratory judgment from the U.S. District
Court for the District of Columbia that the plans complied with Section 5. However, the court found the congressional plan to be retrogressive and intentionally discriminatory against minority voters, the Texas Senate plan to
be intentionally discriminatory against minority voters, and the Texas House plan to be retrogressive and indicated
that there was strong evidence of having been developed with intent to discriminate against minority voters.
• Fabela v. City of Farmers Branch (2012) – The plaintiffs challenged the city’s method of election for city council, which consisted of six members, a mayor and five council members, who were elected at-large, but ran for
specific seats. The Farmers Branch electoral system required runoff elections when no candidate receives a majority of the vote for a particular seat. The plaintiffs argued that Farmers Branch’s at-large system denied Hispanic
voters the opportunity to participate meaningfully in the electoral process and to elect representatives of their
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choice. At the time, no Hispanic had been elected as a member of the city council or mayor under that system. The
court concluded that the city’s at-large electoral system diluted Latino voting strength in violation of Section 2.
The city submitted a new plan to the court, which they were ordered to implement. The new plan consists of five
single-member districts, each represented by one city council member.
• Benavidez v. City of Irving (2009) – The plaintiffs argued that Irving’s existing at-large method of electing the
mayor and members of its city council diluted the voting power of Irving’s Hispanic voters, thereby denying them
the opportunity to elect representatives of their choice. Hispanic voters in Irving are politically cohesive, and the
White majority in Irving votes cohesively to defeat Hispanic preferred candidates. Irving’s electoral system also
has in place a number of mechanisms that enhance vote dilution, such as staggered elections, a majority vote
requirement, and numbered places. The court found that the at-large electoral system weighed heavily against the
ability of Hispanics to elect their preferred candidates in violation of Section 2. The Irving City Council decided
to settle the case rather than appeal, and the parties agreed to a new election plan that divided the city into six
districts with a 6-2-1 voting system with six members elected from single-member districts, two elected at-large
and the mayor elected citywide.
• United States v. Fort Bend County, TX (2009) – On April 9, 2009, DOJ filed a complaint against Fort Bend
County, TX alleging that the county failed to implement an effective bilingual election program for Spanishspeaking voters in violation of Section 4(f)(4) and failed to allow eligible voters to receive assistance from the
persons of their choice in violation of Section 208. The complaint also alleged that the county failed to offer provisional ballots to eligible voters in federal elections, and it failed to provide required information to provisional
voters, in violation of HAVA. On April 13, 2009, the court entered the consent decree.
• United States v. Littlefield ISD, TX (2007) – On July 16, 2007, DOJ filed a complaint against the Littlefield ISD
alleging violations of Section 203 with respect to Latino voters. On September 4, 2007, the court entered a consent
decree.
• United States v. Post ISD, TX (2007) – On July 16, 2007, DOJ filed a complaint against the Post ISD alleging
violations of Section 203 with respect to Latino voters. On September 4, 2007, the court entered a consent decree.
• United States v. Seagraves ISD, TX (2007) – On July 16, 2007, DOJ filed a complaint against the Seagraves ISD
alleging violations of Section 203 with respect to Latino voters. On September 4, 2007, the court entered a consent
decree.
• United States v. Smyer ISD, TX (2007) – On July 16, 2007, DOJ filed a complaint against the Smyer ISD alleging
violations of Section 203 with respect to Latino voters. On September 4, 2007, the court entered a consent decree.
• United States v. City of Earth, TX (2007) – On July 16, 2007, DOJ filed a complaint against the city of Earth alleging violations of Section 203 with respect to Latino voters. On September 4, 2007, the court entered a consent
decree.
• United States v. Galveston County, TX (2007) – On July 16, 2007, DOJ filed a complaint against Galveston
County under Section 4(f)(4). The complaint alleged that the county failed to translate election materials and
provide assistance for limited-English proficient Spanish speaking voters. On July 20, 2007, the court entered the
consent decree.
• United States v. Brazos County, TX (2006) – On June 28, 2006, DOJ filed a complaint against Brazos County,
Texas alleging violations of Sections 4(f)(4) and 208. Specifically, the United States alleged that Brazos County
had violated Section 4(f)(4) by failing to translate all election-related material into Spanish and by failing to
provide an adequate number of bilingual poll workers trained to assist Spanish-speaking voters on election day. A
consent decree, entered by the court on June 29, 2006, required, among other things, that the county increases the
number of bilingual poll workers, translate all election-related material in Spanish, and permit voters their assistor
of choice consistent with Section 208.
• United States v. Hale County, TX (2006) – On February 27, 2006, DOJ filed a complaint alleging that Hale
County, Texas violated Section 203 by failing to provide for an adequate number of bilingual poll workers trained
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to assist Spanish-speaking voters on Election Day and by failing to publicize effectively election information in
Spanish. On April 27, 2006, a consent decree was entered which allowed the department to monitor future elections in Hale County and require the county to increase the number of bilingual poll workers, employ a bilingual
coordinator, and establish a bilingual advisory group.
• United States v. Ector County, TX (2005) – On August 23, 2005, DOJ filed a complaint alleging that Ector
County violated Section 4(f)(4). The complaint alleged that the county failed to provide an adequate number of
bilingual workers to serve the county’s Spanish-speaking population and failed to effectively publicize information to the Spanish-speaking community. The consent decree, which was approved by a federal district judge
on August 26, required the county to establish an effective Spanish-language program and authorizes the use of
federal observers to monitor the county’s elections.
• LULAC v. City of Seguin (2002) – Following the 2000 census, Seguin’s redistricting plan fractured the city’s
Latino population to preserve the incumbency of a White councilmember and thus maintain a majority of White
members on the city council. When the DOJ refused to preclear the redistricting plan, Seguin corrected the
violation but then closed its candidate filing period so that the incumbent would run for office unopposed. Latino
plaintiffs sued and secured an injunction under Section 5. The parties settled after negotiating a new election date,
and a Latino majority was eventually elected to the Seguin City Council.

Virginia
Section 5 Objections:
• Northampton County (2003) – In 2003, the county proposed a redistricting plan and the realignment of voting
precincts. The benchmark plan contained two Black majority districts in which Black voters had been able to elect
candidates of their choice. However, the proposed plan had only one such district while eliminating the ability of
Black voters to elect their candidates of choice in the other district. DOJ concluded that minority voting strength
was unnecessarily reduced in the county.
• Northampton County (2003) – In 2002, the county proposed a redistricting plan for the board of supervisors and
the realignment of voting precincts. Under the benchmark plan, Black voters had been able to elect candidates
of choice in three districts. The proposed plan had no district in which Black persons would have constituted a
majority of the voting-age population. In the 10 years prior to 2003, no Black-preferred candidate had won in a
district in which Whites were a majority of the voting-age population. The analysis of electoral behavior indicated
that a reduction in the Black voting-age population had the potential for a significant difference in the ability of
Black voters to elect a candidate of choice.
• Cumberland County (2002) – The county proposed a new redistricting plan for the Board of Supervisors. At the
time, District 3 was the only district in which Black people constituted a majority of the total population. However, under the proposed plan, the Black population and the Black voting-age population in that district would be
reduced and the areas that were moved out of the district were the areas from which the Black-preferred candidate
in District 3 drew substantial support in the 1995 and 1999 elections. DOJ objected to the plan, finding that the
county did not meet the burden of proving the plan was drawn with a lack of discriminatory purpose or retrogressive intent.
• Pittsylvania County and Pittsylvania County School District (2002) – The 2001 redistricting plan for the board
of supervisors and the board of education would have reduced the Black population in the only district in which
Black persons were a majority of the population to below 50 percent. DOJ analysis showed that the level of racial
polarization in the county was extreme, such that any reduction would have called into question the continued
ability of Black voters to elect their candidates of choice.
• Northampton County (2001) – The county proposed to change the method of election for the board of supervisors from six single-member districts to three double-member districts, as well as a new redistricting plan for the
board of supervisors, and the realignment of voting precincts. Under the existing method of election, Black voters
had been able to elect candidates of their choice to office in three districts. The proposed plan did not contain any
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districts in which minorities constituted a majority of the voting age population. DOJ determined that minority
voters would not have had the same opportunity under the proposed plan that they had under the existing plan to
elect even two candidates of choice.

Washington
Other Voting Rights Act Violations:
• United States v. Yakima County, WA (2004) – In its complaint, DOJ alleged that the county had violated Section
203 by not providing effective election-related materials, information, and/or assistance in Spanish to those persons who were limited English proficient. The United States and the county were able to resolve the matter with a
consent decree that required the county to establish an effective Spanish-language election program.

Wisconsin
Other Voting Rights Act Violations:
• Frank v. Walker (2014) – On April 29, 2014, a federal district court in Wisconsin concluded that Wisconsin’s
voter ID law, Act 23, violated the 14th Amendment and Section 2.

Wyoming
Other Voting Rights Act Violations:
• Large v. Fremont County (2010) – The plaintiffs challenged the elections for the county commission on the basis
that the method diluted Indian voting strength in violation of Section 2. The court found that the at-large election
scheme diluted the Native American vote by preventing the politically cohesive Native American community from
electing a candidate of its choice due to racially polarized White-bloc voting.
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Examples of post-Shelby Voting Changes of Concern

Since the U.S. Supreme Court ruled in Shelby County v.
Holder on June 25, 2013, 10 voting changes in seven states
have raised concerns about voting discrimination.

Because voting discrimination typically comes to light near major elections or right after the decennial census, we
are only beginning to see examples of potentially discriminatory voting changes post-Shelby. The following is a list
of potentially discriminatory voting changes enacted since June 2013:
• Decatur, Alabama – In 2011, Decatur requested Section 5 preclearance for a change in the method of election
from five single-member districts to three single-member districts and two at-large seats for the city council. The
city withdrew the submission after a request for more information. After the Shelby decision, the city implemented
the change.
• Toyukak et al. v. Treadwell et al. – Private plaintiffs have brought a lawsuit alleging that three adjoining census
areas in Alaska have deliberately withheld language assistance from these areas. Trial is scheduled to commence
on June 23, 2014.
• State of Arizona – Arizona’s H.B. 2261 was initially submitted for Section 5 preclearance pre-Shelby, and DOJ
requested additional information. The law requires the addition of two at-large seats to the Governing Board of the
Maricopa Community College District. Since Arizona no longer has to comply with DOJ preclearance, the state is
now proceeding to fill the two new seats in the November 2014 election. A state court lawsuit challenging the law
is now on appeal.
• Manatee County, Florida – Supervisor of Elections Mike Bennett proposed reducing the number of precincts,
citing decreased Election Day turnout, as more voters switch to in-person early voting and vote-by-mail options.
In Manatee County, almost one-third of polling sites would be eliminated and half of the polling places in the
heavily minority District 2 would be eliminated. Representatives of the local NAACP and Southern Christian
Leadership Council are concerned that the elimination will decrease voter turnout because voters would have to
travel further to a polling place, especially among the elderly and people without cars, and note that the cuts disproportionately affected minority-heavy precincts.
• State of Florida – Prior to the 2012 federal election, Florida used a highly inaccurate matching program to
conduct a systematic purge of alleged noncitizen voters from the voter registration database. The purged voters
were disproportionately from minority communities. The process was halted pre-Election 2012 after three federal
lawsuits were filed, but restarted at the end of last year post-Shelby.
• State of Georgia –In the wake of the Shelby decision, the Georgia Secretary of State has announced that the 2014
election for Augusta-Richmond County will be held at the time of the primary rather than during the November
general election, reinstating a plan that DOJ had objected to prior to Shelby on the grounds that it would disproportionately negatively impact the turnout of African-American voters. (See page 10)
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• State of North Carolina – North Carolina passed H.B. 589 in 2013, which includes a multitude of voting restrictions. Lawsuits have been filed challenging provisions of the bill under Section 2 of the VRA, under the 14th and
15th amendments to the Constitution, and under state law. The provisions challenged include elimination of early
voting, increases in the number and scope of challengers and observes, a strict photo identification requirement, a
repeal of out-of-precinct voting, the elimination of flexibility in opening early voting sites at different hours within
a county, a provision making it more difficult to add satellite polling sites for the elderly or voters with disabilities,
new limits on who can assist a voter adjudicated to be incompetent by court, plus numerous other provisions. The
law was enacted just one month after the Shelby County decision and is currently being challenged in one state
court lawsuit and in three federal lawsuits: North Carolina State Conference of the NAACP et al. v. McCrory et
al., League of Women Voters et al v. North Carolina et al., and U.S. v. North Carolina.
• State of Texas – Within hours of the Shelby decision, Texas’ attorney general announced that thestate would
begin to implement its photo ID law immediately. This law was previously denied Section 5 preclearance by DOJ
and by a three-judge panel of the U.S. District Court of the District of Columbia on the grounds it would have a
racially discriminatory effect. A Section 2 case by the United States and two lawsuits brought by private plaintiffs
have been consolidated and are scheduled to go to trial in September 2014.
• Galveston County, Texas – A few days after the Shelby decision, Galveston County decided to implement the
reduction in the number of justice of the peace and constable districts to which DOJ had objected in 2012.
• Pasadena, Texas – During a special election in November 2013, Pasadena voters voted in favor of Proposition 1,
a measure that changed the city’s eight single-member district system of electing members of the city council to a
6-2 system featuring six single-member districts and two at-large seats. The change would reduce Latino voting strength in city council elections by making it more difficult for Latino voters to reach majority status in the
districts.
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